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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MISSOURI 

 

WANDA BRANDON, ANDREW CRAIG  ) 

ALICE CROCKETT, NAOMI DAVIS  ) 

MAISHA ELLISON, HOLLIS FLANNERY )  

AMIRA HERNDON, SHARON HARDNETT ) 

KIMBERLY HOLMON-ROME, WENDY  ) 

HUDDLESTON, MICHELLE JOHNSON ) 

PRECIOUS MABRY , DIANA MATHIESON ) Case No.: 4:22-cv-00635-SRC 

JOHNNIE MCCREARY, ASHLEY MOORE ) 

TAMMY O'CONNOR, PAUL PERNICIARO ) 

ANGEL SCOTT, TOMEKA SLAUGHTER  ) 

SHENICQUEL SPOTTS, DANIELLE  ) 

WATSON, NICHOLAS WILLIAMS, JAMES  ) 

APPLE, ANTHONY COMPARATO,   ) 

DONETTA DAMPIER, MARC INGRAM,  ) 

ANNE GILLESPIE, DETRIA HUDDLESTON,  ) 

TASHIMA KINNEY, JEFFERY MCCAW,  ) 

JAMIE MCDANIEL, SAIDIA MCDANIEL,  ) 

SHARRONE MILLER, DERRICK MOORE, ) 

RICHARD NOBLE, ROCHELLE PAGE,  ) 

LISA SCAILS-DANSBERRY, JEAN SLAVEN,  ) 

QUINTON STEWART, BRITTANY WEAVER, ) 

PORSHA WILLIAMS, VIRGIL WILLIAMS,  ) 

AND JAMELL WREN    ) 

       ) 

Plaintiffs,      ) 

)    

vs.        ) 

)  Jury Trial Demanded 

BOARD OF EDUCATION     ) 

OF THE CITY OF ST. LOUIS;   ) 

      ) 

KELVIN R. ADAMS;    ) 

      )   

CHARLES K. BURTON;    ) 

       ) 

Defendants.      ) 

 

PLAINTIFFS’ FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

COMES NOW Plaintiffs Wanda Brandon, Andrew Craig, Alice Crockett, Naomi Davis, 

Maisha Ellison, Hollis Flannery, Sharon Hardnett,  Amira Herndon, Kimberly Holmon-Rome, 
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Wendy Huddleston, Michelle Johnson, Precious Mabry, Diana Mathieson, Johnnie McCreary, 

Ashley Moore, Tammy O'Connor, Paul Perniciaro, Angel Scott, Tomeka Slaughter, Shenicquel 

Spotts, Danielle Watson, Nicholas Williams, James Apple, Anthony Comparato, Donetta 

Dampier, Detria Huddleston, Marc Ingram, Anne Gillespie, Tashima Kinney, Jeffery McCaw, 

Jamie McDaniel, Saidia McDaniel, Sharrone Miller, Derrick Moore, Richard Noble, Rochelle 

Page, Lisa Scails-Dansberry, Jean Slaven, Quinton Stewart, Brittany Weaver, Porsha Williams, 

Virgil Williams and Jamell Wren by and through their undersigned counsel, and for their 

Complaint against Defendant Board of Education of the City of St. Louis, Kelvin R. Adams and 

Charles K. Burton state the following: 

 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Plaintiffs are and/or were employees of the Saint Louis Public School District 

who each object to receiving COVID-19 vaccinations based on their sincerely held religious 

beliefs. 

2. Defendants unjustly discriminated against Plaintiffs because of their sincerely 

held religious beliefs and their viewpoints by mandating that they must take the Covid-19 

vaccine to remain employed by the Defendant District. 

3. Specifically, Defendants’ vaccine mandate seeks to override Plaintiffs’ sincerely 

held religious beliefs and discriminates against them on the basis of their religion. 

4. This case seeks to protect and vindicate statutory, and fundamental rights to the 

free exercise of religion protected by the United States Constitution and the Missouri 

Constitution. Plaintiffs bring a civil rights action under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and for other statutory and constitutional 

violations, challenging Defendants’ acts, policies, practices, customs, and procedures, which 
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deprived Plaintiffs of their First Amendment rights, their Fourteenth Amendment liberty right to 

privacy, self-autonomy and personal identity, including the right to reject government mandated 

medical treatment, their rights to be free from religious discrimination and retaliation protected 

by under 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq., of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended,  

the Missouri Human Rights Act, Section 213.010 R.S.Mo, et seq., and the Missouri Religious 

Freedom Restoration Act, Section 1.302 R.S.Mo., et seq., and the rights of the Plaintiffs to refuse 

to promote and participate in the use of aborted fetuses to develop and test the COVID-19 

vaccinations protected by Section 188.100 R.S.Mo. et seq.  

5. Plaintiffs challenge the policies and actions detailed below on their face and as 

applied to Plaintiffs. 

6. Defendants’ policies and actions deprived and will continue to deprive Plaintiffs 

of their paramount rights and guarantees under the United States Constitution and state and 

federal law. 

7. Defendants committed each and every act alleged herein under the color of law 

and authority. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

8. This Court has jurisdiction over the claims brought under federal law pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343.  

9. This Court also has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law claims 

pursuant to Title 28, United States Code, Section 1367.  

10. This Court also has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims for declaratory and 

injunctive relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201 and 2202. 
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11. Venue over Plaintiff’ claims is proper in the Eastern District of Missouri because 

Defendant resides in the Eastern District of Missouri within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 1391 

and because the events, acts, and omissions giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred in the 

Eastern District of Missouri. 

 

THE PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff Wanda Brandon is an individual who began working for SLPS in 1995 as 

a substitute teacher, she left the district for several years, but returned to SLPS in 2002 as a 

substitute teacher.   She is a is a resident of St. Louis City, Missouri. 

13. Plaintiff Andrew Craig is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS since 2017 as 

an Aviation Vocational Tech Instructor.  He is a resident of St. Louis County, Missouri. 

14. Plaintiff Alice Crockett is an individual.  She has been an employee of SLPS for 

approximately twenty-one years as a librarian and a Drama teacher.  She is a resident of Saint 

Louis County, Missouri. 

15. Plaintiff Naomi Davis is an individual.  She has been a teacher with SLPS since 

2015.  She teaches Mathematics.  She is a resident of St. Louis County, Missouri. 

16. Plaintiff Maisha Ellison is an individual.  She has been a teacher with SLPS since 

2000.  She teaches Computer Lab.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

17. Plaintiff Hollis Flannery is an individual.  She has been a teacher since 2016 and 

has taught at SLPS since 2020 and has taught kindergarten and preschool.  She is a resident of 

Saint Charles County, Missouri. 

18. Plaintiff Sharon Hardnett is an individual.  She has been a teacher since 2008 and 

has taught at SLPS since 2019.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 
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19. Plaintiff Amira Herndon is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS for 

approximately 24 years and teaches mathematics. She is a resident of Saint Clair County, 

Illinois. 

20. Plaintiff Kimberly Holmon-Rome is an individual.  She began working at SLPS 

in 2008 as a substitute teacher, she left for the 2009-2010 school year and returned to SLPS in 

2011 and has since been a substitute teacher for SLPS.  She is a resident of Saint Louis City, 

Missouri.   

21. Plaintiff Wendy Huddleston is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a 

teacher since 2001.  She is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

22. Plaintiff Michelle Johnson is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a teacher 

since 2012. She is a resident of Saint Clair County, Illinois. 

23. Plaintiff Precious Mabry is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS for 

approximately eleven years as a Safety Officer II.  He is a resident of Saint Clair County, Illinois. 

24. Plaintiff Diana Mathieson is an individual. She has worked for SLPS since 2015 

as a Science teacher.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri.   

25. Plaintiff Johnnie McCreary is an individual.  He is a Special Education teacher 

and has worked for SLPS since 1983.  He is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

26. Plaintiff Ashley Moore is an individual.  She began working for SLPS in 2011 as 

a substitute teacher.  She left the district in 2012.  She returned to SLPS in 2019 as a Substitute 

teacher. Her position was changed to Credit Recovery Facilitator in 2020.  She is a resident of 

Saint Louis City, Missouri. 
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27. Plaintiff Tammy O'Connor is an individual.  She has been a teacher since 2007 

and has worked for the Board and SLPS since 2008 as a Social Studies teacher.    She is a 

resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri.   

28. Plaintiff Paul Perniciaro is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS since 2009 as 

a Mathematics teacher.  He is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri.  

29. Plaintiff Angel Scott is an individual. She has worked for SLPS since 2018 as a 

Safety Officer and worked as an Intervention Specialist beginning in 2021.  She is a resident of 

Saint Louis City, Missouri.  

30. Plaintiff Tomeka Slaughter is an individual. She began working for SLPS in 1996 

as a teacher’s assistant.  She worked as a substitute teacher from 1999 through 2013 or 2014 and 

has worked as a social worker since then.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

31. Plaintiff Shenicquel Spotts is an individual.  She has been a teacher since 1995 

and has worked for SLPS as a teacher since 1999. She is a resident of Sant Louis City, Missouri. 

32. Plaintiff Danielle Watson is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a teacher 

since 2004.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

33. Plaintiff Nicholas Williams is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS for 

approximately one year as a custodian.  He is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

34. Plaintiff James Apple is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS as a Social 

Studies teacher since 2021.  He is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

35. Plaintiff Anthony Comparato is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS as a 

Visual Art teacher since 2013.  He is a resident of Saint Charles County, Missouri. 

36. Plaintiff Donetta Dampier is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as an 

Instructional Care Aid since 2016.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 
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37. Plaintiff Marc Ingram is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS as a Social 

Studies teacher since 2014.  He is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

38. Plaintiff Anne Gillespie is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a Physical 

Education Teacher since 2013.  She is a resident of Saint Charles County, Missouri. 

39. Plaintiff Detria Huddleston is an individual.  She was employed by SLPS as a 

Teacher Assistant and Family Support Community Specialist.  She is a resident of Saint Louis 

County, Missouri. 

40. Plaintiff Tashima Kinney is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a 

Behavioral Specialist since 2018.  She is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

41. Plaintiff Jeffery McCaw is an individual.  He was employed by SLPS since 2011 

as a Construction Trade Teacher.  He is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

42. Plaintiff Jamie McDaniel (a/k/a Jamie Lewis) is an individual.  She worked for 

SLPS since 2016 as a Substitute Teacher, a Paraprofessional, a Clerk II, and an Interim Learning 

Associate.  She is a resident of Saint Clair County, Illinois. 

43. Plaintiff Saidia McDaniel is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS since 

August 2021 as a Building Substitute Teacher, a Summer School Teacher and a Permanent 

Substitute Teacher.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri.  

44. Plaintiff Sharrone Miller is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as an Art 

Teacher since 2013.  She is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

45. Plaintiff Derrick Moore is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS as a Custodian 

for approximately five years.  He is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

46. Plaintiff Richard Noble is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS as a 

Mathematics teacher since 2019.  He is a resident of Saint Charles County, Missouri. 
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47. Plaintiff Rochelle Page is an individual. She worked for SLPS for approximately 

14 years as a permanent substitute teacher, a Positive Behavior Interventionist, and School 

Counselor. She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

48. Plaintiff Lisa Scails-Dansberry is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a 

Special Education Teacher from 1994 through 2007 and from 2015 through 2021.  She is a 

resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

49. Plaintiff Jean Slaven is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a teacher since 

2015.  She is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

50. Plaintiff Quinton Stewart is an individual.  He worked for SLPS has worked for 

SLPS since 2016, and previously had worked there for approximately two years.  He worked as a 

Behavioral Specialist, Substitute Music Teacher, Instructional Care Assistant and Parent and 

Student Concerns Specialist.  He is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri. 

51. Plaintiff Brittany Weaver is an individual.  She has worked for SLPS as a 

Teacher’s Assistant and Family Community Specialist since 2018.  She is a resident of Saint 

Louis City, Missouri. 

52. Plaintiff Porsha Williams is an individual.  She worked for SLPS as an 

Instructional Care Aid.  She is a resident of Saint Louis County, Missouri.  

53. Plaintiff Virgil Williams is an individual.  He has worked for SLPS as a Special 

Education Instructor Care Aide since 2017.  He is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

54. Plaintiff Jamell Wren is an individual.  She worked for SLPS since 2001.  She 

began working in the technology department and has worked in the transportation department for 

the past several years as a manager of operations systems technology.  She is a resident of Saint 

Louis City, Missouri. 
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55. Defendant Board of Education of the City of St. Louis, (sometime referred to 

herein as the “Board”) is a Board of Education and body corporate enacted under the laws of the 

state of Missouri which operates the Saint Louis Public School District (“SLPS”) a 

“Metropolitan District” formed pursuant to Chapter 162 of the Missouri Statutes.  At all times 

relevant, Defendant Board has acted, and continues to act, under color of state law.  The Board 

operates and is headquartered in Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

56. Defendant Kelvin R. Adams is an individual who at all times relevant herein was 

Superintendent of the SLPS. He required Plaintiffs to comply with the contested policies set 

forth in this Complaint or face disciplinary action including unpaid suspension and termination. 

He is being sued in his individual official capacity. At all times relevant, Defendant Adams has 

acted, and continues to act, under color of state law.  Defendant Adams is a resident of Saint 

Louis City, Missouri. 

57. Defendant Charles K. Burton is an individual who at all times relevant herein was 

the Chief Human Resources Officer for SLPS. He required Plaintiffs to comply with the 

contested policies set forth in this Complaint or face disciplinary action including unpaid 

suspension and termination. He is being sued in his individual and official capacity. At all times 

relevant, Defendant Burton has acted, and continues to act, under color of state law. Defendant 

Adams is a resident of Saint Louis City, Missouri. 

58. Defendants Board, Adams and Burton are responsible for creating, adopting, 

approving, ratifying, and enforcing the policies, practices, customs, and procedures of Board, 

including the challenged policies, practices, customs, and procedures set forth in this Complaint.  

 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS 
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59. On August 24, 2021, the Board of Education adopted a policy #4624 requiring 

employees to take a COVID-19 Vaccination (hereinafter sometimes referred to as “vaccination 

mandate”).  It stated: 

By October 15, 2021, all individuals covered by this policy must either (a) establish that 

they are fully vaccinated*, including timely receipt of all booster vaccine doses 

recommended by the CDC; or (b) obtain an approved exemption as an accommodation as 

set forth below. Covered individuals who do not fulfill one of these two requirements by 

October 15, 2021 shall be placed on unpaid leave and/or subject to discipline, up to and 

including termination. Individuals covered under this policy that obtain an approved 

exemption shall be subject to COVID-19 testing on Monday and Thursday each week. 

See Exhibit 1, attached hereto. 

 

60. Policy #4624 was implemented by the Board after the district administration 

made a recommendation to implement a policy mandating vaccination.  See Ex. 2, August 25, 

2021 Message to All Employees.  

61. Section 162.621 R.S.Mo. grants the Board the power to “[m]ake, amend and 

repeal rules and bylaws for its meetings and proceedings, for the government, regulation and 

management of the public schools and school property in the city, for the transaction of its 

business, and the examination, qualification and employment of teachers”. 

62. The defendants acted under the color of Section 162.621 and the Board’s policies 

in their deprivation of the rights of the Plaintiffs as set forth herein.   

63. Policy #4624 indicated that persons could seek exemptions for disability, 

religious or other medical reasons. 
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64. Policy #4624 states: 

“The District provides reasonable accommodations, absent undue hardship, to 

employees with sincerely held religious beliefs, observances, or practices that 

conflict with getting vaccinated. If you believe you need an accommodation 

regarding this policy because of a sincerely held religious belief, you are 

responsible for requesting a reasonable accommodation from the Human Resources 

Department. You must use and submit the form(s) provided by the District in order 

to be eligible for an exemption.” Exhibit 1. 

65. Policy #4624 indicated “ Individuals  covered under this policy that obtain an 

approved exemption shall be subject to COVID-19 testing on Monday and Thursday each 

week.” Exhibit 1.  

66. The district told the employees that they could apply for a religious exemption 

and continue teaching by receiving tests on Monday and Thursday each week, indicating they 

were capable of accommodating employees request for religious exemptions.1 

67. SLPS provided the Plaintiffs with forms to submit requests for religious 

exemptions.2 

68. Each of the Plaintiffs have sincerely held religious beliefs that prevent them from 

receiving the COVID-19 vaccines. 

69. Each Plaintiff submitted a request for religious exemptions outlining how taking 

the COVID-19 vaccine conflicted with their sincerely held religious beliefs. 

70. The District denied each of the Plaintiffs’ requests for religious exemption. 

 
1 Ex. 1, Policy #4624; Ex. 2 August 25, 2021 Message to All Employees.   
2 Ex. 2 August 25, 2021 Message to All Employees.   
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71. The District received between 150 and 200 requests for religious exemption in 

the fall of 2021.3   

72. The district denied each of the 150 to 200 requests for religious exemptions it 

received.4 

73. The district does not know how much time was spent reviewing each request.5 

74. The district does not have any documentation as to whom reviewed the requests.6 

75. The district does not know who reviewed the requests.7 

76. The district did not make a determination as to whether the Plaintiffs’ religious 

beliefs were sincerely held prior to denying their requests.8 

77. The district did not dispute that the religious beliefs of the Plaintiffs are sincerely 

held. 

78. The determination to deny the requests for religious exemption was made by 

Charles Burton Chief Human Resources Officer for SLPS and/or Karla Dozier, Director of 

Employee Relations for SLPS.9 

79. The district granted between 40 and 50 exemptions for disability and medical 

exemptions.10 

80. The district granted more requests for disability and medical exemptions than 

they denied.11 

 
3 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 40:18-25 
4 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 16:22-24 
5 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 41:1-13 
6 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 39:24-40:9. 
7 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 39:24-40:9. 
8 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 17:3-5 
9 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 12:18-22, 35:19-21, 42:1-8 
10 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 19:19-20:2, 25:10-22 
11 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 54:17-21 
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81. The people granted disability and/or medical exemptions received the 

accommodation of twice per week testing which is the same accommodation sought by 

Plaintiffs.  

82. The people granted disability and/or medical exemptions were able to continue 

their employment including teaching students.12 

83. The accommodation of twice per week testing was identical under Policy #4624 

for the disability exemption, religious exemption and medical exemption.13 

84. The district has offered no plausible explanation why it treated medical and 

disability accommodation requests more favorably than those seeking religious discrimination.   

85. The defendants’ disparate issuance of exemptions to persons seeking disability 

and medical exemptions versus those seeking religious exemptions indicates the defendants’ 

policies and implementation of those policies are not neutral and generally applicable14.   

 
12 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 25:23-26:15 
13 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 67:14-17 
14 See Roman Catholic Diocese of Brooklyn v. Cuomo, 141 S. Ct. 63, 73 (2020)(Order not neutral because it singled 
out houses of worship for especially harsh treatment where a large store could have hundreds of persons shopping 
on a given day whereas a nearby church was prohibited from allowing more than 10 or 25 people inside for 
worship service); Church of the Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. City of Hialeah, 508 U.S. 520 (1993)(Ordinances 
preventing religious organizations from animal sacrifice while allowing butchering of animals by slaughterhouses 
and groceries “were enacted by officials who did not understand, failed to perceive, or chose to ignore the fact 
that their official actions violated the Nation's essential commitment to religious freedom”); US Navy Seals 1-26 v. 
Biden, No. 22-10077, Opinion Feb. 28, 2022 (5th Cir 2022)(granting medical exemptions for a vaccine requirement 
while refusing to grant religious exemptions rendered the vaccine requirement underinclusive and was a telltale 
sign that the governments interest in enacting a liberty-restraining pronouncement is not in fact compelling; and 
the Navy's religious accommodation process is "an empty formality" because "the denial of each request is 
predetermined",  it is "theater", the Navy "rubber stamps each denial", and “[T]he Plaintiffs' requests are denied 
the moment they begin."); Doster v. Kendall, 1:22-cv-84, Order March 31, 2022 (U.S.Dist.Ct. S.D.Oh.)(Air Force’s 
approval of only 23 religious exemption requests while granting 1,129 medical exemptions and 1,426 
administrative exemptions found to be “shameful” and “farcical statistics” and the Air Force “has effectively 
stacked the deck” against service members seeking religious exemptions justifying injunction enjoining and 
restraining discipline of service members who were denied religious exemptions to COVID-19 vaccine 
requirement).   
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86. Defendant Adams represented at the board meeting on August 24, 2021 that 

requests for religious accommodations would be reviewed on an individual basis by the 

district’s human resources department.   

87. The blanket denials by the district of every request for a religious exemption 

indicates they did not individually review each request for religious exemption. 

88. Plaintiff Wren was told by the SLPS Director of Transportation that 

Superintendent Adams told her the district would not grant any requests for religious 

exemptions. 

89. Plaintiff Wren emailed Defendant Charles Burton and complained about 

religious discrimination by the district and included that she was told by the Director of 

Transportation that the Superintendent was not approving any religious exemptions; Charles 

Burton responded “Received and under review” but did not deny the allegations.   

90. Granting the exemption to the Plaintiffs would be at most a de minimis cost to 

the Defendants. 

91. There was no testing requirement during the 2020-2021 school year.15 

92. Teachers and other employees including the plaintiffs did not receive biweekly 

testing during the 2020-2021 school year.16 

93. Teachers and other employees including the plaintiffs were able to teach their 

students and perform their job duties in the district without biweekly testing.17 

94. Students received free access to public education without the need of biweekly 

testing during the 2020-2021 school year.18 

 
15 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 21:4-7 
16 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 21:8-13 
17 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 21:12-13 
18 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 21:14-19 
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95. Other school districts in the State of Missouri do not require the employees to 

receive exemptions to continue performing their job and they allow employees to opt out of 

COVID-19 vaccination requirements.19 

96. The SLPS administration harassed its employees, including the Plaintiffs, to get 

the COVID-19 vaccine which had the purpose and effect of creating a hostile working 

environment. 

97. SLPS issued “Religious Vaccine Exemption Response” letters to the Plaintiffs in 

September 2021; each letter was substantially identical, with only the recipient and date 

changing, and each such letter indicated SLPS denied the religious exemption request of the 

Plaintiffs.   See Exhibit 4 as example. 

98. The generic language in the Religious Vaccine Response Letter shows the district 

did not analyze the circumstances of each individual plaintiff and renders the denial arbitrary and 

capricious. 

99. The “Religious Vaccine Exemption Response” letters stated: 

“As a public entity, the St. Louis Public School District (SLPS) must balance the 

constitutional obligation to provide a free public education to "all persons in this state 

within ages not in excess of twenty-one years...," against the individual state and federal 

constitutional right to the free exercise of religion. Art. IX, Sec 1(a), Mo. Const.” and 

“the balance of competing constitutional interests weigh in favor of the rights of 

students.”  See Exhibit 4 as example.  

100. The Defendants’ citation to the Missouri Constitution as an excuse to infringe the 

rights of religious freedom of the Plaintiffs fails because there is no federally protected right to 

 
19 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 23:21-24-9 
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an education under the U.S. Constitution. See San Antonio Independent School District v. 

Rodriguez, 411 U.S.1 (1973).  “Education, of course, is not among the rights afforded explicit 

protection under our Federal Constitution. Nor do we find any basis for saying it is implicitly so 

protected.”  Id. at 35. 

101. The First Amendment Free Exercise Clause, incorporated by the Fourteenth 

Amendment states: 

“Congress shall make no law respecting an establishment of religion or prohibiting the 

free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or the right of 

the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress of 

grievances.”   U.S. Const., Amend. I, emphasis added. 

102. "The Free Exercise Clause `protect[s] religious observers against unequal 

treatment' and subjects to the strictest scrutiny laws that target the religious for `special 

disabilities' based on their `religious status.'" Trinity Lutheran Church of Columbia, Inc. v. 

Comer, 137 S. Ct. 2012, 2019 (2017) (quoting Church of Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc., 508 U.S. at 

533). A law may not discriminate against "some or all religious beliefs" or "regulate or outlaw 

conduct because it is religiously motivated." Id. at 2021. A law may not discriminate against 

"some or all religious beliefs" or "regulate or outlaw conduct because it is religiously motivated." 

Id. 

103. The Supremacy Clause of the U.S. Constitution (Article VI, Clause 2), establishes 

the rights established by the U.S. Constitution and the protections of Title VII take priority over 

state law.      

104. A state statute is void to the extent that it actually conflicts with a valid Federal 

statute.  Edgar v. MITE Corp., 457 U.S. 624 (1982). 
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105. Even within the Missouri Constitution, the right to free exercise of religion under 

the Missouri Constitution trumps language in the Missouri Constitution addressing education 

because the free exercise of religion is designated a “natural and indefeasible right” whereas 

education is a legal benefit maintained by the state.  

106. The Bill of Rights of the Missouri Constitution states: 

“That all men and women have a natural and indefeasible right to worship Almighty 

God according to the dictates of their own consciences; that no human authority can 

control or interfere with the rights of conscience .. . nor shall a citizen's right to pray or 

express his or her religious beliefs be infringed… and, to emphasize the right to free 

exercise of religious expression, that all free public schools receiving state 

appropriations shall display, in a conspicuous and legible manner, the text of the Bill 

of Rights of the Constitution of the United States” 

MO Const., Art. I, § 5. (Emphasis added.) 

107. The inalienable right to the freedom of religion contrasts with the language in the 

Missouri Constitution addressing religion: 

A general diffusion of knowledge and intelligence being essential to the preservation 

of the rights and liberties of the people, the general assembly shall establish and 

maintain free public school for the gratuitous instruction of all persons in this state 

within ages not in excess of twenty-one years as prescribed by law. 

MO Const., Art. IX, § 1(a). 

108. The Missouri Constitution specifies that freedom of religion is an “natural and 

indefeasible right”. 
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109. The Missouri Constitution does not specify educational access as a natural right as 

it is not included in the Missouri Bill of Rights. 

110. The right to freedom of religion trumps the maintenance of free public education 

because the right to freedom of religion is a natural and indefeasible right.    

111. Any balancing between the constitutionally protected natural and indefeasible 

right of Plaintiffs to the free exercise of her religion and the obligation of the district to provide 

free education must fall to the side of Plaintiffs’ natural and indefeasible right to freedom of 

religion.   

112. The district has argued that a Saint Louis City policy requiring non-vaccinated 

persons to quarantine for 14 days required them to deny the Plaintiffs’ religious exemption 

requests because they could not accommodate a 14-day quarantine.   

113. The district’s argument that they could not accommodate a 14-day quarantine is 

false because they had been granting 14 day quarantines prior to the termination and suspension 

of the Plaintiffs, the Plaintiffs were able to work remotely should they be required to quarantine 

as they had done previously, the district’s argument that they would need to quarantine the 

Plaintiff’s is based on the speculation that the Plaintiffs may hypothetically be exposed to the 

COVID-19 virus at some future point, and the fact that the district was able to operate from 

October 2021 through January 2022 while the Plaintiffs were suspended or terminated indicates 

the district would be able to continue operating for 14 days should the Plaintiffs need to 

quarantine for 14 days. 

114. The Plaintiff’s religious beliefs prevented them from receiving the vaccination 

due to their use of fetal stem cells taken from aborted fetuses. 
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115. The Pfizer and Moderna COVID-19 vaccines used fetal cell line HEK 293 during 

the research and development phase.20 All HEK 293 cells are descended from tissue taken from a 

1973 abortion that took place in the Netherlands. Id.   The Johnson & Johnson vaccine used fetal 

cell lines in the production and manufacturing stage. Id. To make the Johnson & Johnson 

vaccine, scientists infect PER.C6 fetal cell lines to grow the adenovirus vector. Id.   All PER.C6 

cells used to manufacture the Johnson & Johnson vaccine are descended from tissue taken from a 

1985 abortion that took place in the Netherlands.  Id. 

116. The district’s policies conflict with the laws of the State of Missouri protecting 

the sanctity of life, in that their policy requires its employees to receive COVID-19 vaccinations 

each of which was either manufactured, developed or tested on fetal stem cells taken from 

aborted fetuses21. 

117. Section 1.205 R.S.Mo. states in relevant part “The life of each human being 

begins at conception” and “[u]nborn children have protectable interests in life, health, and well-

being”. 

118. Section 188.010 R.S.Mo. states in relevant part “In recognition that Almighty 

God is the author of life, that all men and women are "endowed by their Creator with certain 

unalienable Rights, that among these are Life", and that Article I, Section 2 of the Constitution of 

Missouri provides that all persons have a natural right to life, it is the intention of the general 

assembly of the state of Missouri to … [d]efend the right to life of all humans, born and unborn 

 
20 You asked, we answered: Do the COVID-19 vaccines contain aborted fetal cells?, James Lawler, M.D., Nebraska 
Medicine, 2021, https://www.nebraskamed.com/COVID/you-asked-we-answered-do-the-covid-19-vaccines-
contain-aborted-fetal-cells, attached hereto as Exhibit 13. 
 
21 See COVID-19 Vaccines & Fetal Cell Lines, North Dakota Dept. Health,  
 https://www.health.nd.gov/sites/www/files/documents/COVID%20Vaccine%20Page/COVID-
19_Vaccine_Fetal_Cell_Handout.pdf, attached hereto as Exhibit 12. 
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… [d]eclare that the state and all of its political subdivisions are a "sanctuary of life" that protects 

pregnant women and their unborn children…”.   

119. The Missouri Stands for the Unborn Act, Sections 188.026 R.S.Mo., et seq., states 

in relevant part: “At conception, a new genetically distinct human being is formed”. 

120. Caselaw protecting the unborn has been codified by the Missouri Stands for the 

Unborn Act, to wit: 

“In Webster v. Reproductive Health Services, 492 U.S. 490 (1989), the Supreme Court, 

while considering the "preamble" that set forth "findings" in section 1.205, stated:  "We 

think the extent to which the preamble's language might be used to interpret other state 

statutes or regulations is something that only the courts of Missouri can definitively 

decide.  State law has offered protections to unborn children in tort and probate law". 

Id. at 506.  Since Webster, Missouri courts have construed section 1.205 and have 

consistently found that an unborn child is a person for purposes of Missouri's homicide 

and assault laws when the unborn child's mother was killed or assaulted by another 

person.  Section 1.205 has even been found applicable to the manslaughter of an unborn 

child who was eight weeks gestational age or earlier.  State v. Harrison, 390 S.W.3d 

927 (Mo. Ct. App. 2013).” Section 188.026.2(5) R.S.Mo. 

 

121. The defendants are in violation of Missouri Law by implementing a policy 

requiring its employees to take vaccinations that have been developed, manufactured and/or 

tested using stem cells obtained from aborted fetuses. 

122. Plaintiff O’Connor sought legal representation by Joseph A. Morrey of the Law 

Offices of Joseph A. Morrey and Richard L. Mast of Liberty Counsel, who sent the defendants a 

detailed letter on or about September 28, 2021 (“Liberty Counsel letter”) outlining how the 

districts policies unlawfully infringed upon the Constitutional and Statutory rights of the 

Plaintiffs.  See Exhibit 5, Liberty Counsel Letter, attached hereto.  

123. The Liberty Counsel Letter placed the Defendants on notice that their actions 

taken would violate the constitutional and statutory rights of the plaintiffs and demonstrates that 
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the defendants knowingly took action against the Plaintiffs with the malicious intention to cause 

a deprivation of constitutional and statutory rights and injury to the plaintiffs.  

124. The Defendants ignored the rights of the Plaintiffs and chose to either terminate 

them or suspend them without pay pending a hearing on their termination. 

125. On October 12, 2021, the SLPS Board approved a $750 bonus for employees that 

received the COVID-19 vaccination by October 18, 2021. 

126. The $750 bonus discriminated against the Plaintiff’s who’s religious beliefs 

prevented them from receiving the vaccine. 

127. Of the 150 to 200 people who made requests for religious exemptions between 

100 and 127 were suspended and/or terminated by the district after their request for religious 

exemption was denied by the district and others resigned or chose to take the vaccine under 

threat of discipline from the Defendants.22   

128. The district was required to issue a statement of charges against the certified 

teacher employees and provide them a hearing pursuant to Section 168.221 R.S.Mo. prior to 

their termination.   

129. The Superintendent Kelvin Adams issued statements of charges against the 

Plaintiffs who were certified teachers beginning on October 15, 2021 indicating he was 

suspending them without pay and was seeking their termination with the board.23 

130. The charges alleged they violated Policy 4624 by failing to provide proof that 

they had received the COVID-19 vaccine or have obtained an approved exemption pursuant to 

Policy 4624, and that they violated policy 4840 subsection one requiring district employees to 

 
22 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 80:9-22  
23 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 64:22-65-3 
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become familiar with and enforce and follow all board policies and 4840 subsection 11 which 

requires all district employees to refrain from conduct that disrupts the educational process.24 

131. The district alleges the certified teachers disrupted the educational process by 

failing to become vaccinated.25 

132. The charges brought against the certified teachers were all identical.26 

133. The certified teachers suspended by Kelvin Adams after SLPS refused to grant 

their request for religious exemption along with the date of their suspension without pay date 

are: 

a. Alice Crocket, October 20, 2021; 

b. Amira Herndon, October 19, 2021; 

c. Andrew Craig; October 18, 2021; 

d. Danielle Watson, October 18, 2021; 

e. Diana Mathieson, November 2, 2021; 

f. Hollis Flannery, October 20, 2021; 

g. Jeffery McCaw, October 15, 2021; 

h. Johnnie McCreary, October19, 2021; 

i. Maisha Ellison, October 20, 2021; 

j. Michelle Johnson; October 20, 2021; 

k. Naomi Davis, October 19, 2021; 

l. Paul Pernicaro, October 18, 2021; 

m. Shenicquel Spotts, October 20, 2021; 

 
24 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 66:21-67:5. 
25 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 66:21-67:5. 
26 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 66:3-7 
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n. Tammy O’Connor, October 18, 2021; 

o. Sharon Hardnett, October 16, 2021; 

p. James Apple, October 21, 2021 

q. Anthony Comparato, October 19, 2021. 

r. Marc Ingram, October 18, 2021; 

s. Anne Gillespie, October 15, 2021; 

t. Sharrone Miller, October 2021; 

u. Richard Noble, October 21, 2021; 

v. Lisa Scails-Dansberry, October 19, 2021; 

w. Jean Slaven, October 2021. 

134. The district terminated the Plaintiffs who were not certified teachers for 

purportedly violating district policy; their names and termination dates are: 

a. Angel Scott, October 21, 2021; 

b. Ashley Moore, October 16, 2021; 

c. Kimberly Holmon-Rome, October 26, 2021; 

d. Nicholas Williams, October 15, 2021; 

e. Precious Mabry, October 26, 2021; 

f. Tomeka Slaughter, October 26, 2021; 

g. Wanda Brandon, October 26, 2021; 

h. Donetta Dampier, October 16, 2021; 

i. Detria Huddleson, October 16 2021; 

j. Tashima Kinney, October 16, 2021; 

k. Jamie McDaniel, October 26, 2021; 
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l. Saidia McDaniel, October 26, 2021; 

m. Derrick Moore, October 16, 2021; 

n. Rochelle Page, October 16, 2021; 

o. Quintin Stewart, October 11, 2021; 

p. Brittany Weaver, October 2021; 

q. Porsha Williams, October 16, 2021; 

r. Virgil Williams, October 15, 2021. 

135. The district denied the request for religious exemption of Plaintiffs Wendy 

Huddleston and Jamell Wren, however it later granted them requests for medical exemptions.  

They were not suspended or terminated but were nevertheless irreparably harmed by the 

defendants by the districts’ harassment of them and its refusal to grant their request for religious 

exemption.27  

136. The Plaintiffs were able to work and teach in the district from the beginning of 

the school year in August 2021 until they were terminated or suspended by the district.28 

 
27 The loss of First Amendment freedoms, for even minimal periods of time, unquestionably constitutes irreparable 
injury. Elrod v. Burns, 427 US 347, 373 (1976). 
28 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 84:7-21 
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137. Charles Burton’s deposition was taken on December 2, 2021 in preparation for 

the hearings on the charges the district brought against the teachers. A copy of which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit 3.  

138. Charles Burton testified in his deposition that people whom the district granted 

medical exemptions were not required to begin submitting to the twice per week testing until “a 

week or so” before Charles Burton’s deposition on December 2, 2021, indicating the district 

allowed unvaccinated teachers who were granted medical exemptions to continue teaching for 

approximately six weeks without twice per week testing after the district suspended and 

terminated the Plaintiffs.29   

139. The district does not dispute that the religious beliefs of the Plaintiffs are 

sincerely held.  

140. Plaintiff O’Connor was given a hearing on the charges brought by SLPS against 

her on December 16, 2021 in which evidence was taken.    

141. Charles Burton, Chief Human Resources Officer testified at O’Connor’s 

December 16, 2021 hearing.  

142. Plaintiff O’Connor was represented by the undersigned at her hearing on the 

charges. 

143. The undersigned submitted a post hearing brief on January 7, 2022, including 

serving copies on the hearing officer appointed by the district to report to the board, as well as 

the attorneys for SLPS.  The post hearing brief discussed the unlawful actions of the defendants 

and further placed them on notice that their actions were violating the religious freedoms of the 

Plaintiffs.   See Employee Tammy O’Connor’s Post Hearing Brief, Attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 

 
29 Ex. 3, Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021, 20:11-14 
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144. The Board did not issue a determination as to the charges it brought against 

O’Connor or other Plaintiffs. 

145. In January 2022, the district changed its mind and granted the request for 

religious exemptions of most of the Plaintiffs. 

146. The District sent Plaintiffs who were certified teachers who they had suspended 

without pay letters titled “Exemption Approval, Return to Work, and New Statement of 

Charges” in mid-January 2022; the letters were substantially identical and indicated that the 

District was “now able to grant your request for sincerely held religious exemption”, “the 

District is withdrawing and removing from your personnel file the Statement of Charges 

previously issued to you”, that they were directed to return to their assignments, and that “with 

respect to the time that you have been on an administrative leave due to your non-compliance 

with District Policy P4724, you will be receiving a new Statement of Charges related to your 

administrative leave time”.  See Exhibit 7 as an example.  

147. The District did not pay the certified teachers for the period they were suspended 

148. The District sent Plaintiffs who were not certified teachers and who the District 

had terminated, letters titled “Exemption Approval and Reappointment, which were 

substantially identical and indicated the District was “now able to grant your request for 

sincerely held religious exemption”, that they were “eligible for reappointment” as an employee, 

that they did not need to reapply, interview, or complete new onboarding process. See Exhibit 8, 

as an example.  

149. The district did not pay the employees the back pay for the period from the date 

of their termination until their reappointment.  

150. The district did not rehire Plaintiffs Angel Scott or Tomeka Slaughter. 
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151. On or about February 7, 2022, SLPS issued a second “Statement of Charges” to 

the certified teachers they had previously suspended without pay.  The letters were all 

substantially identical and sought to suspend the teachers without pay for the period from 

October 2021 through January 5, 2022 when they had been suspended without pay after the first 

statement of charges were issued.   See Exhibit 9, as an example.  

152. The second statement of charges violated the Plaintiffs’ rights to due process 

because any notice they provided was issued subsequent to the suspensions of the Plaintiffs.  

See   Division of Family Services v. Cade, 939 SW 2d 546 (Mo. App. W.D. 1997)(notice given 

to employee after he served the suspension did not comport with due process). 

153. Section 105.264 R.S.Mo. requires the district to have a hearing and make a 

determination within one hundred eighty days from the date the employee was placed on 

administrative leave.   

154. As of July 15, 2022, the district has not made a determination as to the teachers 

who were placed on administrated leave in October 2021; the district has therefore exceeded its 

180-day statutory authority and has no legal basis to continue to withhold the pay from the 

teachers suspended in October 2021. 

155. The defendants’ continued prosecution of the teachers suspended in October 

2021 is done to harass and retaliate against them because they exercised their constitutional and 

statutory rights.  

156. The defendants’ conduct was motivated by evil motive or intent and/or the 

defendants’ conduct involved reckless or callous indifference to the federally protected rights of 

the Plaintiffs.  
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157. Each plaintiff has timely dually filed a charge of discrimination with the 

Missouri Commission on Human Rights (“MCHR”) and the Equal Employment Opportunities 

Commission (“EEOC”). See Exhibit 10, attached hereto. 

158. The Plaintiffs have requested right to sue letters. 

159. The EEOC has issued right to sue letters to the majority of Plaintiffs and the 

remaining Plaintiffs anticipate they will receive the outstanding right to sue letters shortly. See 

Exhibit 11, attached hereto. 

160. There are common questions of law and fact common to all parties herein. 

161. The claims of each Plaintiff arise out of a single transaction or occurrence or 

series of transactions or occurrences. 

162. Exhaustion of administrative requirements is not necessary where there are 

multiple plaintiffs and "similar and sufficient factual basis" between the plaintiffs.  Winbush v. 

State of Iowa by Glenwood State Hosp., 66 F. 3d 1471, 1478 (8th Cir. 1995).   Once a single 

plaintiff has filed an EEOC complaint, other non-filing plaintiffs may join in the action if they 

allege facts showing that they were similarly situated and that their claims arose out of similar 

discriminatory treatment. Id. The purpose of the filing requirements is to enable conciliation by 

the EEOC and to protect defendants from surprise. Id.  

163. In this case, the EEOC/MCHR filings that were made put the defendants on 

notice of allegations that they discriminated against persons because of their religious beliefs 

and no conciliatory purpose would have been served by requiring separate filings.   
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COUNT I – VIOLATIONS OF PLAINTIFFS’ RIGHT TO FREE EXERCISE OF 

RELIGION – AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 

164. Plaintiffs restate and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as though set forth fully 

herein. 

165. This count is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1983 for deprivation of rights 

protected by the First Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

166. The First Amendment’s Free Exercise Clause prohibits the government from 

enacting non-neutral and non-generally applicable laws or policies unless they are narrowly 

tailored to a compelling government interest. 

167. The original public meaning of the Free Exercise Clause is that the government 

may not burden a sincerely held religious belief unless the government can demonstrate a 

compelling interest and that the law or policy burdening religious exercise is the least restrictive 

means to achieve that compelling interest. 

168. Plaintiffs have sincerely held religious beliefs that prohibit their receipt of 

COVID-19 vaccines.  

169. Defendants violate Plaintiffs’ First Amendment right to freely exercise their 

religious beliefs by mandating an invasive medical treatment that substantially interferes with 

Plaintiffs’ religious free exercise rights. 

170. Defendants’ vaccination policy (#4624) substantially burdened Plaintiffs’ 

sincerely held religious beliefs by burdening them to receive a COVID-19 vaccine that would 

violate those religious beliefs or suffer adverse employment action and financial harm. 

171. Defendants’ policies and practices create government-imposed, coercive pressure 

on Plaintiffs to change or violate their sincerely held religious beliefs.  
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172. Defendants’ policies, practices, customs, and procedures, punish and impose 

discipline on its employees, including the Plaintiffs, for exercising his or her right to free 

exercise of their religious beliefs.  

173. Defendants’ actions injure Plaintiffs by chilling their religious activity and 

religious speech through threat of discipline, including suspension and termination, by 

Defendants for failure to comply with its new policies. 

174. Defendants imposed adverse employment actions in the form of unpaid 

suspensions and terminations against the Plaintiffs.   

175. Defendants’ vaccination policy is not a neutral and generally applicable law or 

policy.  

176. Defendants’ vaccine policy fails strict scrutiny. 

177. Defendants do not have a compelling government interest in requiring Plaintiffs 

to violate their sincerely held religious beliefs by taking a COVID-19 vaccine. 

178. Defendants’ Vaccine Mandates are also not the least restrictive means of 

accomplishing the districts purported interest because the Plaintiff’s worked and taught in the 

district for over a year before the district implemented its vaccine policy during the COVID-19 

pandemic with a ready and healthy staff that had not been fully vaccinated. 

179. Defendants possess multiple lesser restrictive methods of mitigating the spread of 

COVID-19, including masking, remote teleworking, physical distancing, and regular testing, 

which is further indicated by the Defendants’ granting of the religious exemptions of most of the 

Plaintiff’s.   

180. Defendants’ Vaccine Mandates violate Plaintiffs’ rights to the free exercise of 

religion under the First Amendment. 
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181. By reason of the aforementioned acts, policies, practices, customs and procedures 

created, adopted, and enforced under color of state law, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of their 

right to the free exercise of their sincerely held religious beliefs in violation of the First 

Amendment, as applied to the states and their political subdivisions under the Fourteenth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

182. Because of Defendants’ policy and actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue 

to suffer irreparable harm, they are entitled to equitable relief. 

183. Defendants’ actions were motivated by evil motive or intent and involved reckless 

or callous indifference to the federally protected rights of Plaintiffs. 

184. They are entitled to compensatory damages to compensate them for the losses 

they have sustained.  

185. They are entitled to nominal damages in the event no actual damages are found. 

186. Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that Defendants violated their First 

Amendment rights to free exercise of religion and an injunction against Defendants’ policy and 

actions.  

187. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reasonable costs of this lawsuit, including their 

reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 

COUNT II - RIGHT TO PRIVACY, PERSONAL AUTONOMY, AND PERSONAL 

IDENTITY – AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 

188. Plaintiffs restate and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as though set forth fully 

herein. 
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189. This count is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1983 for deprivation of rights 

protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 

190. By reason of the aforementioned acts, policies, practices, customs and procedures 

created, adopted, and enforced under color of state law, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of their 

fundamental constitutional right to privacy, personal autonomy, and personal identity, all in 

violation of the Fourteenth Amendment as applied to the states and their political subdivisions 

under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §1983. 

191. Defendants further deprived Plaintiffs of their fundamental right to bodily 

integrity to make their own informed medical decisions. 

192. Defendants have violated Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth Amendment rights by favoring 

and enforcing policies that approve of and force medical treatment, including vaccinations, over 

Plaintiffs’ right to privacy, personal identity and personal autonomy.  

193. Defendants’ conduct has deprived the Plaintiffs of their personal choices central 

to individual dignity and autonomy, including intimate choices defining personal identity and 

beliefs by stigmatizing and labeling their sincerely held religious beliefs as unworthy of 

protection by Defendants. 

194. Defendants’ policies, practices, customs, and procedures, punish and impose 

discipline on Plaintiffs for alleged violations of Defendants’ policies, simply for exercising their 

religious and medical right to make their own medical decisions.  

195. Defendants’ actions have injured Plaintiffs by violating their constitutional rights 

through threat of discipline and sanction by Defendants for failure to comply with their new 

policies. 
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196. Because of Defendants’ policy and actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue 

to suffer irreparable harm, they are entitled to equitable relief. 

197. Defendants’ actions were motivated by evil motive or intent and involved reckless 

or callous indifference to the federally protected rights of Plaintiffs. 

198. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages to compensate them for the losses 

they have sustained.  

199. Plaintiffs are entitled to nominal damages in the event no actual damages are 

found. 

200. Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that Defendants violated their First 

Amendment rights to free exercise of religion and an injunction against Defendants’ policy and 

actions.  

201. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reasonable costs of this lawsuit, including their 

reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 

COUNT III - RIGHT TO EQUAL PROTECTION – AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 

202. Plaintiffs restate and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as though set forth fully 

herein. 

203. This count is brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 1983 for deprivation of rights 

protected by the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. 
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204. By reason of the aforementioned acts, policies, practices, customs and procedures 

created, adopted, and enforced under color of state law, Defendants deprived Plaintiffs of their 

fundamental constitutional right to equal protection under the law, all in violation of the 

Fourteenth Amendment as applied to the states and their political subdivisions under the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and 42 U.S.C. §1983. 

205. Defendants have violated Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth Amendment rights by favoring 

and enforcing policies that treat the plaintiffs differently than other groups desiring exemptions 

from the COVID-19 mandate.  

206. Defendants’ policies, practices, customs, and procedures, punish and impose 

discipline on Plaintiffs for alleged violations of Defendants’ policies, simply for exercising their 

religious and medical right to make their own medical decisions.  

207. Defendants’ policies, practices, customs, and procedures as applied by the 

Defendants do not support a compelling government interest sufficient to justify the unequal 

treatment.  

208. Defendants’ policies, practices, customs, and procedures as applied by the 

Defendants are not the least restrictive means to accomplish any permissible purpose sought to 

be served by their actions. 

209. Defendants’ actions have injured Plaintiffs by violating their constitutional rights 

through threat of discipline and sanction by Defendants for failure to comply with their new 

policies. 

210. Because of Defendants’ policy and actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue 

to suffer irreparable harm, they are entitled to equitable relief. 
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211. Defendants’ actions were motivated by evil motive or intent and involved reckless 

or callous indifference to the federally protected rights of Plaintiffs. 

212. Plaintiffs are entitled to compensatory damages to compensate them for the losses 

they have sustained.  

213. They are entitled to nominal damages in the event no actual damages are found. 

214. Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration that Defendants violated their First 

Amendment rights to free exercise of religion and an injunction against Defendants’ policy and 

actions.  

215. Plaintiffs are entitled to the reasonable costs of this lawsuit, including their 

reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 

COUNT IV – VIOLATIONS OF THE MHRA – AGAINST DEFENDANT BOARD 

OF EDUCATION OF THE CITY OF ST. LOUIS 

216. Plaintiffs restate and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as though set forth fully 

herein. 

217. This Count is brought pursuant to the Missouri Human Rights Act (MHRA), 

Chapter 213 of the Missouri Revised Statutes. 

218. Section 213.055 R.S.Mo. states in relevant part: 
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 “It shall be an unlawful employment practice . . . [t]o fail or refuse to hire or to discharge 

any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his 

compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's . . . 

religion   . . .  [t]o limit, segregate, or classify his employees or his employment applicants in any 

way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of employment opportunities or 

otherwise adversely affect his status as an employee, because of such individual's … religion . . . 

219. Defendant Board is an employer as defined under Chapter 213 R.S.Mo. 

220. Defendant Board harassed and discriminated against Plaintiffs based upon their 

religion. 

221. Defendant Board suspended, terminated, refused to reinstate and/or constructively 

discharged Plaintiffs because of their religion. 

222. Defendant Board limited, segregated and classified plaintiffs in order to deprive 

them of employment opportunities and adversly affected their status as employees because of 

their religion. 

223. Defendant’s harassment and discrimination of Plaintiffs affected terms, 

conditions, and/or privileges of their employment.  

224. Defendant Board was aware of the harassment and discrimination inflicted on 

Plaintiffs.  

225. Defendant Board discharged and discriminated against Plaintiffs with respect to 

their compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of their religion. 

226. Plaintiffs’ religion was a contributing and motivating factor and the exclusive 

cause in Defendant Board’s discriminatory actions against them. 
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227. Plaintiffs suffered financial loss, incurred attorney fees and costs, decreased 

business opportunities, emotional pain, suffering, inconvenience, loss of enjoyment of life 

because of the actions of the Defendant. 

228. The Defendant’s articulated reasons for its actions were pretexts for unlawful 

actions. 

229. The Defendant’s conduct was outrageous because of the Defendant’s evil motive 

or reckless indifference to the Plaintiffs’ rights. 

230. Defendant’s actions were intentional, willful, knowing, wanton and malicious, 

and in flagrant disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, and entitle Plaintiffs to an award of punitive 

damages. 

   

COUNT V – VIOLATIONS UNDER TITLE VII OF 42 U.S.C SECTION 2000E OF 

THE CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1964 – AGAINST DEFENDANT BOARD OF 

EDUCATION OF THE CITY OF ST. LOUIS 

 

231. Plaintiffs restate and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as though set forth fully 

herein.  

232. Defendant Board is an employer as defined by 42 U.S.C. § 2000e. 

233. Defendant Board intentionally engaged in unlawful employment practices in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000e, et seq., of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 

by practices including, but not limited to, harassing, suspending, terminating and/or 

constructively discharging, and/or failing to reinstate Plaintiffs.  

234. The actions of Defendant was motivated by Plaintiffs’ religion. 
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235. As a direct and proximate result of these unlawful employment practices, 

Plaintiffs have suffered losses of wages, benefits, experience, and career advancement and have 

suffered mental anguish and humiliation. 

236. Because of these damages, plaintiffs are entitled to such affirmative relief as may 

be appropriate, including but not limited to reinstatement, lost wages, and benefits in accordance 

with the provisions of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(g). 

237. The Defendant’s conduct was outrageous because of the Defendant’s evil motive 

or reckless indifference to the Plaintiffs’ rights. 

238. Defendant’s actions were intentional, willful, knowing, wanton and malicious, 

and in flagrant disregard for the rights of Plaintiffs, and entitles Plaintiffs to an award of punitive 

damages. 

COUNT VI - VIOLATIONS OF THE MISSOURI RELIGIOUS FREEDOM 

RESTORATION ACT – AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 

239. Plaintiffs restate and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as though set forth fully 

herein.  

240. This count is brought pursuant to the Missouri Religious Freedom Restoration Act 

(RFRA), 1.302 R.S.Mo., et seq.   

241. The RFRA states “[a] governmental authority may not restrict a person's free 

exercise of religion”. 1.302 R.S.Mo. 

242. The RFRA, applies “to all state and local laws, resolutions and ordinances and the 

implementation of such laws, resolutions and ordinances, whether statutory or otherwise”. 

Section 1.307.1 R.S.Mo. 

243. Each of the defendants is a “governmental authority” under the RFRA. 
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244. As used in the RFRA, the term "exercise of religion" is defined as an act or 

refusal to act that is substantially motivated by religious belief, whether or not the religious 

exercise is compulsory or central to a larger system of religious belief. 1.302.2 R.S.Mo. 

245. District Policy #4624 has the immediate and continuing effect of restricting 

Plaintiffs’ free exercise of religion. 

246. All Plaintiffs oppose receiving a COVID-19 vaccination because it conflicts with 

their sincerely held religious beliefs. 

247. Plaintiffs’ engaged in the free exercise of religion in their refusal to receive the 

COVID-19 vaccination. 

248. The District’s implementation of Policy #4624 violates the Plaintiffs’ exercise of 

free religion. 

249. District Policy #4624 discriminates against religion. 

250. District Policy #4624 is not essential to further a compelling governmental 

interest. 

251. District Policy #4624 is unduly restrictive considering the circumstances. 

252. RFRA provides that a person is exempt from a generally applicable law that has 

the effect of restricting that “person’s free exercise of religion.”  

253. A state or local government must honor the exemption unless the government 

“demonstrates that application of the restriction to the person is essential to further a compelling 

governmental interest, and is not unduly restrictive considering the relevant circumstances.”  

254. The Defendants violated Plaintiffs’ statutory rights as recognized under RFRA. 

Case: 4:22-cv-00635-SRC   Doc. #:  24   Filed: 09/19/22   Page: 39 of 44 PageID #: 988



40 
 

255. Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm absent declaratory and injunctive relief 

prohibiting the defendants from their unlawful implementation and application of District Policy 

#4624. 

 

COUNT VII  - DISCRIMINATION FOR FAILURE TO PARTICIPATE IN ABORTION 

– AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 

256. Plaintiffs restate and reallege the foregoing paragraphs as though set forth fully 

herein.  

257. This count is brought pursuant to Section 188.120 R.S.Mo.  

258.  “"Employer" as used in this count is defined as “the state, or any political or civil 

subdivision thereof, or any person employing two or more persons within the state, and any 

person acting as an agent of the employer.” Section 188.100 R.S.Mo. 

259. Each defendant is an employer for purposes of this count.   

260. It is unlawful for an employer “[t]o fail or refuse to hire or to discharge any 

individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his or her 

compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's 

refusal to participate in abortion;” or to “limit, segregate, or classify his, her, or its employees or 

applicants for employment in any way which would deprive or tend to deprive any individual of 

employment opportunities or otherwise adversely affect his or her status as an employee, because 

of such individual's refusal to participate in abortion …[t]o discharge, expel, or otherwise 

discriminate against any person because he or she has opposed any practices forbidden under 

sections 188.100 to 188.120 or because he or she has filed a complaint, testified, or assisted in 

any legal proceeding under sections 188.100 to 188.120…  For any person, whether an employer 
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or employee, or not, to aid, abet, incite, compel, or coerce the doing of any of the acts forbidden 

under sections 188.100 to 188.120, or to attempt to do so.” Section 188.105 R.S.Mo. 

261. Using vaccines which are developed, tested and/or manufactured using aborted 

fetuses promotes abortions.   

262. Plaintiffs refused to participate in abortions by refusing to receive vaccinations 

which used aborted fetuses in their development, testing and/or manufacture. 

263. The defendants discharged and discriminated against the Plaintiffs with respect to 

his or her compensation, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment because of their refusal 

to participate in abortions.  

264. The defendants discharged, expelled, or otherwise discriminated against the 

plaintiffs because they opposed practices forbidden under sections 188.100 to 188.120 including 

the defendants’ promotion of abortion through their mandate to use vaccines which used aborted 

fetuses in their development, testing and/or manufacture. 

265. The Plaintiffs have been damaged by the Defendant’s unlawful actions.  

266. Section 188.120 permits the recovery of treble damages, including pain and 

suffering, costs of the suit and reasonable attorney's fees. 

 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

  WHEREFORE, the Plaintiffs pray this court after a trial by jury, for which a jury is 

hereby demanded, to enter judgment: 

a) Declaring that the Defendants have violated the rights of the Plaintiffs as set forth above;  
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b) Declaring that Defendants’ vaccine mandate policy which is invalid and unconstitutional 

for all the reasons as set forth in this Complaint; 

c) Declaring that Defendants acted unconstitutionally and outside their authority as set forth 

in this Complaint; 

d) Declaring that Defendants violated Plaintiffs’ fundamental constitutional rights as set 

forth in this Complaint; 

e) Declaring that Defendants’ violated Plaintiffs’ statutory rights as set forth in this 

Complaint; 

f) Entering an temporary restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunctions enjoining 

Defendants’ vaccine mandate policy for all the reasons as set forth in this Complaint; 

g) Ordering Defendants to make Plaintiffs whole for the loss of income they have suffered 

as a result of the unlawful acts of Defendants, including back pay from the time of the 

unlawful acts with interest thereon and fringe benefits, reinstatement and/or front pay, 

compensatory damages, damages for past and future mental anguish, inconvenience, loss 

quality of life, and pain and suffering, nominal damages if not actual damages are found, 

punitive damages in the maximum amount allowed by law, and other affirmative relief 

necessary to eradicate the effects of Defendants’ unlawful employment practices, in an 

amount to be determined at trial, in excess of $75,000.00;  

h) Awarding Plaintiff the costs of this action, including reasonable attorney fees and 

expenses incurred; for interest on all amounts;  

i) and to Grant such additional and affirmative relief as the Court may deem just and 

proper. 
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DEMAND FOR A JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs, through counsel, respectfully requests a trial by jury on all issues. 

       

      Respectfully submitted, 

       KASPER LAW FIRM, LLC 

       By: /s/ Kevin J. Kasper   

       Kevin J. Kasper, #52171MO 

       Ryan P. Schellert, #56710MO 

       3930 Old Hwy 94 South - Suite 108 

       St. Charles, MO 63304 

       Ph: 636-922-7100 

       Fax: 866-303-2874 

       Email: KevinKasper@KasperLawFirm.net 

       Email: RyanSchellert@KasperLawFirm.net 

       ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 The undersigned certifies that a copy of the foregoing was served by filing with the 

court’s electronic filing system which sends notice to all parties of record and a copy in MS 

Word was sent via email to counsel for defendants via email to: 

MICKES O’TOOLE, LLC 

Vincent D. Reese, # 49576 

vreese@mickesotoole.com 

Melanie A. Renken, #59973 

mrenken@mickesotoole.com 

Jasmine Y. McCormick, #66386 

jmccormick@mickesotoole.com 

12444 Powerscourt Drive, Suite 400 

St. Louis, Missouri 63131 

Telephone: (314) 878-5600 

Facsimile: (314) 878-5607 

Attorneys for Defendants 

 

      /s/ Kevin J. Kasper 
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TABLE OF EXHIBITS 

1. SLPS Policy 4624 – Vaccine Mandate 

2. August 25, 2021 Message to Employees 

3. Deposition of Charles Burton, December 2, 2021 

4. Religious Vaccine Exemption Response letter 

5. Liberty Counsel Demand Letter 

6. Tammy O’Connor’s Post Hearing Brief 

7. Exemption Approval, Return to Work, and Statement of New Charges letter 

8. Exemption Approval and Reappointment letter 

9. Statement of Charges and Notice of Hearing 

10. Charges of Discrimination 

11. Right to Sue letters 

12. COVID-19 Vaccines & Fetal Cell Lines 

13. You asked, we answered: Do the COVID-19 vaccines contain aborted fetal cells? 
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